CASE NO.: 95,889 ,

JUL 28 1999

CLERK, SURREME COURT

Florida Bar Number: 311200

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FIRST DISTRICT

IN THE

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

BONNIE ROSEN



By _

Petitioner

vs.

FLORIDA INSURANCE GUARANTY ASSOCIATION

Respondent

PETITIONER'S JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF

Respectfully submitted,

Lauri Waldman Ross, Esq. Ross & Tilghman Counsel for Appellee Two Datran Center, Suite 1705 9130 S. Dadeland Boulevard Miami, Florida 33156 (305) 670-8010

ROSS & TILGHMAN, TWO DATRAN CENTER, SUITE 1705, 9130 SOUTH DADELAND BOULEVARD, MIAMI, FL 33156+(305) 670-8010

CERTIFICATE OF TYPE SIZE AND STYLE

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review a District Court of Appeal decision which expressly and directly conflicts with the decisions of another District Court of Appeal on the same issue of law. Fla. Const. art V, $\S3(b)(3)$; Fla. R. App. Proc. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv).

Decisional conflict envisions the announcement of a rule of law which conflicts with a rule previously announced by this Court or of another district court of appeal. <u>Ford Motor Co. v. Kikis</u>, 401 So. 2d 1341 (Fla. 1981).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The First District Court of Appeal did not reach the merits of Plaintiff's suit which alleged that FIGA was statutorily forbidden from deducting the amount of its own defense costs from the \$300,000 available to Plaintiff for her "covered claims." § 631.54(3)(5), Fla. Stats. (1995). The First District deemed this Court's decision in <u>Fidelity & Casualty Co. of New York v. Cope</u>, 462 So. 2d 459 (Fla. 1985) to bar Plaintiff's claims, as a matter of law.

<u>Cope</u> holds that a bad faith claim against an insurer cannot be maintained "once an injured party has released the tortfeasor from all liability, or has satisfied the underlying judgment" without first obtaining an assignment.

In <u>FIGA v. Giordano</u>, 485 So. 2d 453 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986), the Third District deemed <u>Cope</u> inapplicable to bar FIGA claims. As the Third District clearly recognized, these are significant distinctions between bad faith claims against an insurer to recover for an excess judgment and a direct action against FIGA for failure to pay.

When a claimant files a FIGA claim, FIGA's insured is released by operation of law to the extent of any coverage. However, the express statutory release of the insured does <u>not</u> apply to FIGA. § 631.193, Fla. Stats. (1995). Moreover, FIGA is immune from suit

for bad faith and thus cannot be sued by a claimant for an excess judgment.

In the instant case, the insureds were already released by operation of law to the extent of coverage when the Plaintiff's claim was filed. Converting the settlement agreement between the claimant and the insureds into a "release" of FIGA, runs contrary to the language and underlying public policy of the FIGA Act.

The conflict between the First and Third District decisions regarding <u>Cope's</u> application in the FIGA context creates uncertainty in the law and holds implications for others who seek the protection that the FIGA Act was intended to afford. It is respectfully submitted that this is precisely the type of case which should be afforded further review.

ARGUMENT

<u>COPE</u> HAS NO APPLICATION TO SUITS AGAINST FIGA FOR FAILURE TO PAY "COVERED CLAIMS."

In Fidelity & Casualty Co. of New York v. Cope, 462 So. 2d 459, 462 (Fla. 1985), this Court held that "absent a prior assignment of the cause of action, once an injured party has released the tortfeasor from all liability, or has satisfied the underlying judgment, no action may be maintained." Both <u>Cope</u> and <u>Kelly v. Williams</u>, 411 So. 2d 902 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982), following <u>Cope</u>, arise in the context of third party actions for "bad faith"

against a tortfeasor's insurer. In the instant case, the First District found <u>Cope</u> and <u>Kelly</u> applicable to bar a claimant's action against FIGA.

In <u>Florida Insurance Guaranty Ass'n v. Giordano</u>, 485 So. 2d 453, 457 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986), the Third District reached the <u>opposite</u> conclusion. Distinguishing <u>Cope</u> and its progeny, the Court wrote:

> FIGA now attacks the settlement on the basis of <u>Fidelity & Casualty Co. v. Cope</u>, 462 So. 2d 459 (Fla.1985), claiming that the provision agreeing not to execute against the insured requires, under Cope, that this cause of action be dismissed because the insured has been released from liability and, therefore, has no cause of action to assign.

> FIGA's reliance on Cope is misplaced. In Cope, the injured party, Cope, filed suit aqainst the two tortfeasors and their (after the insurers insurance companies refused to settle) and won a jury verdict for an amount far in excess of the policy limits. Cope then brought an excess judgment action against one of the insurers. The action was settled in return for Cope's execution of a release and satisfaction of judgment in favor of the insurer and both tortfeasors. Cope thereafter filed an excess judgment action against the second insurer for the balance of the judgment awarded by the jury. The Florida Supreme Court held that since the settlement satisfied the judgment against the insured tortfeasor, there was no longer a cause of action upon which to bring a subsequent lawsuit. The court stated:

> We hold that if an excess judgment has been satisfied, absent an assignment of that

cause of action prior to satisfaction, a third party cannot maintain action for a breach of duty between an insurer and its insured.

In the case at bar, the insured first assigned all of its rights against FIGA to the injured party. That alone takes this cause out of Cope's purview. Secondly, there has been no satisfaction of the underlying judgment against the insured, and there won't be any such satisfaction until the entire judgment has been paid in full. As a result, until this cause is resolved, the insured has an unsatisfied judgment and an unsatisfied cost judgment recorded against it. Thirdly, this is not a bad faith action against the insurer and there is no excess judqment involved here. We find that Cope does not apply to the instant cause and therefore, Mrs. Giordano, as assignee of the insured, has a cause of action against FIGA.

One of the express holdings of the Third District's decision was that <u>Cope</u> was inapplicable in a FIGA suit because it was "not a bad faith action against the insurer and there is no excess judgment involved here." This conclusion is bolstered by both public policy and certain key provisions of the FIGA Act, which, it is respectfully submitted, that the First District overlooked.

In analyzing the precise nature of a FIGA claim, some history is in order. In December 1969, the National Association of Insurance Commissioner promulgated the "Past-Assessment Property and Liability Insurance Association Model Act." ("The Model Act"). The Model Act was "designed to provide a means of assisting in the detection and prevention of insurance insolvencies" and to ease the

pain and suffering of insured, beneficiaries and injured thirdparty claimants if the insurance company which would normally respond to their problems becomes insolvent." Havens, "Insurance Guaranty Laws: An Update on Litigation," 16 The Forum p. 1183 (ABA 1981).

The "Florida Insurance Guaranty Ass'n Act" (the "FIGA Act") was enacted in 1970, and contains many of the Model Act provisions. §631.50 et seq., Fla. Stats. (1995); Laws 1970, c. 70-201. The foremost purpose of the Act was to "[p]rovide a mechanism for the payment of covered claims under certain insurance policies <u>to avoid</u> <u>excessive delay in payment and to avoid financial loss to claimants</u> <u>or policyholders because of the insolvency of an insurer.</u>" §631.51(1), Fla. Stat. (1995) (emphasis added).

The FIGA Act must be "liberally construed" to effect this statutory purpose. §631.53, Fla. Stats. (1995).

A suit against FIGA is a direct cause of action to obtain payment of a "covered claim." As the definitive insurance treatise observes:

> If a guarantee fund fails to pay a covered claim or ignores its obligation to protect the insureds of the insolvent company, the fund can be sued by the insureds and/or third party claimants. <u>Theoretically, the lawsuit is to</u> force the fund to comply with its statutory <u>duty</u>. The fund cannot be sued for liability beyond its duty to pay covered claims, however.

See Couch on Insurance 3d, §6:28 at p. 6-58 (emphasis added).

The FIGA Act itself makes the logic of <u>Cope</u> inapplicable to this kind of case. Pursuant to section 631.193, Fla. Stat. (1995) the mere filing of a claim "constitutes a release of the insured from liability to the claimant to the extent of the coverage or policy limits provided by the insolvent insurer" However, this <u>express</u> release of the insured "does <u>not</u> operate to discharge the Florida Insurance Guaranty Association or any other guaranty association from any of its responsibilities and duties set out in this chapter." § 631.193, Fla. Stats. (1995) (emphasis added).

In the instant FIGA case, the insured were already released by operation of law to the extent of coverage when the claim was filed. Converting the settlement agreement between the claimant and the insured law firm into a "release" of FIGA, runs contrary to both the express language and the public policy underlying the statute.

<u>Cope's</u> "bad faith" analysis is further inapplicable to this kind of statutory action because FIGA is immune from any bad faith claim, and cannot be sued for an excess judgment. §631.66, Fla. Stat. (1995); <u>Fernandez v. Florida Ins. Guaranty Ass'n, Inc.</u>, 383 So. 2d 974 (Fla. 3d DCA), <u>rev. denied</u>, 389 So. 2d 1109 (Fla. 1980).

The First District's decision here creates uncertainty in the law and has implications for others in the state who seek the

protection that FIGA was intended to afford. Because the First District's decision expressly and directly conflicts with the Third District's decision deeming <u>Cope</u> inapplicable to where there can be no bad faith or excess judgment in a claim against FIGA, petitioner respectfully seeks further review.

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, Petitioner respectfully invokes this Court's jurisdiction under Fla. Const. art V, § 3(b)(3), and requests the Court to (1) accept jurisdiction; (2) establish a briefing schedule on the merits; and (3) quash the decision of the District Court of Appeal for the First District.