IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 95,889

First District Court of Appeal Case no. 1998-334

BONNIE ROSEN, Petitioner

vs.

FLORIDA INSURANCE GUARANTY ASSOCIATION, INC., Respondent

RESPONDENT FIGA'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

Respectfully submitted, Helen Ann Hauser Fla. bar po. 353906 DITTMAR & HAUSER Counsel for Respondent FIGA 3250 Mary Street, Suite 400 Coconut Grove, Fl 33133 (305) 442-4333

Summary of the Argument
Argument: FLORIDA LAW IS CLEAR THAT NO INSURER, AND THEREFORE NO GUARANTY ASSOCIATION, CAN BE REQUIRED TO PAY A CLAIM AFTER THE INSURED IS FULLY RELEASED FROM ALL LIABILITY, WHERE NO ASSIGNMENT WAS MADE PRIOR TO SUCH RELEASE AND THE INSURER IS NOT FOUND TO HAVE COMMITTED MISCONDUCT; THERE IS NO CONFLICT ON THIS POINT
Conclusion10
Conclusion

i

TABLE OF CITATIONS

Cases:
Fidelity and Casualty Company of New York v. Cope, 462 So. 2d 459 (Fla. 1985)
Florida Insurance Guaranty Assn. v. Giordano, 485 So. 2d 453 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986)
Florida Physicians Insurance Reciprocal v. Avila, 473 So. 2d 756 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985)7,8
Kelly v. Williams, 411 So. 2d 902 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982)2,5
Kuvin, Klingensmith & Lewis, P.A. v. Florida Ins. Guaranty Assn., Inc., 371 So. 2d 214 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979)
Peoples v. Florida Insurance Guaranty Assn., 313 So. 2d 40 (Fla. 2d DCA 1975)
Queen v. Clearwater Electric, 555 So. 2d 1262 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989)9
Ramos v. Jackson, 510 So. 2d 1241 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987)9
Rosen v. Florida Insurance Guaranty Assn., 24 FLW D1193 (Fla. 1 st DCA 1999)passim
Steil v. Florida Physicians Insurance Reciprocal, 448 So. 2d 589 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984)
Troso v. Florida Insurance Guaranty Assn., 538 So. 2d 103 (Fla. 4 th DCA 1989)4
Other Authorities: Fla. Stat. sec. 631.141
Fla. Stat. sec. 631.193 (1997)
Fla. Stat. sec. 631.57 (1997)1 ii

ļ

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner Bonnie Rosen was Plaintiff in the original trial court action and Appellant in the First District case. This dispute began when Rosen sued a law firm which had been insured by a now-insolvent carrier, together with its employee. The law firm's original malpractice insurance was a "declining balance" policy in the amount of \$1 million, with defense costs deducted from the indemnity amount. Once the insurer failed, the Florida Insurance Guaranty Association (FIGA) assumed obligations for "covered claims," but the amount of coverage dropped to \$300,000 (see Fla. Stat. sec. 631.57). The litigation was bitter and complex; as the matter neared trial, \$261,000 had been expended for defense fees and costs (slip op., p. 2). Rosen accepted the remaining \$39,000 which FIGA paid on behalf of its insureds. Rosen apparently hoped to create a right to collect an "excess judgment" from FIGA by having the law firm consent to a \$261,000 sham "judgment," but failed to create a legal obligation. As the First District opinion explains, "the judgment would never be recorded, would create no liens and could not be executed. Instead, appellant would accept \$39,000 from FIGA, would attempt to collect the balance of the \$300,000 from FIGA, and upon conclusion of that litigation would release the law firm or file a notice of satisfaction of judgment" (Slip op., p. 3). Thus, regardless of whether she ever collected another penny, Rosen could make no claim against the

insured parties in any fashion, or in any forum.

Subsequently, Rosen sued FIGA in Duval County, seeking a declaration that FIGA had not been entitled to deduct its defense costs from the \$300,000 indemnity limits, but instead could only deduct its defense costs from the original \$1 million. She contended that FIGA could therefore have been obligated to pay as much as \$700,000 in defense costs before its \$300,000 indemnity limit could be invaded. She wanted FIGA to pay an additional \$261,000 to her. FIGA defended on multiple grounds: one was that Rosen's claim was extinguished in the original settlement, since she had never obtained any enforceable judgment against FIGA's insured. The trial court granted summary judgment for FIGA, reasoning that by releasing the insured parties, "appellant thereby released the insurer" (slip op., p. 3).¹ The First District agreed, citing the same two cases relied upon by the trial court, Fidelity and Casualty Company of New York v. Cope, 462 So. 2d 459 (Fla. 1985) and Kelly v. Williams, 411 So. 2d 902 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982)(slip op., pp. 3-4).

¹The trial court also held, on the merits, that FIGA's interpretation was correct, so that the defense costs for this declining-balance policy were properly deducted from the \$300,000 limit. In light of its holding on the first ground, however, the District Court did not feel a need to address this second basis for the summary judgment.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Petitioner seeks to create conflict jurisdiction in this Court by an extremely strained interpretation of prior case law. The First District's determination in the case at bar was based upon the well-established principle that no claim against an insurer survives the release of the insured where there is no remaining enforceable obligation against the insured, there was no assignment of any right of action against the insurer prior to the release, and there was no finding of misconduct by the insurer, *Fidelity* and Casualty Company of New York v. Cope, 462 So. 2d 459 (Fla. 1985). FIGA, as the statutory successor to certain obligations of insolvent member insurers, pays only claims which its insureds are legally obligated to pay. Although the Third District noted, in the case of Florida Insurance Guaranty Assn. v. Giordano, 485 So. 2d 453 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986), allowing a claim to proceed against FIGA, that said claim was not a bad faith claim, the basis for the Third District decision was that a vaild judgment existed against the insured and the insured had properly assigned its rights to the claimant prior to obtaining the claimant's promise not to enforce the judgment. Neither of these prerequisites was satisfied in the instant case, making Cope the applicable precedent. Giordano cannot be read as holding that all FIGA cases are outside the purview of Cope, as Petitioner contends. Accordingly, Cope and its progeny do not conflict with Giordano.

ARGUMENT: FLORIDA LAW IS CLEAR THAT NO INSURER, AND THEREFORE NO GUARANTY ASSOCIATION, CAN BE REQUIRED TO PAY A CLAIM AFTER THE INSURED IS FULLY RELEASED FROM ALL LIABILITY, WHERE NO ASSIGNMENT WAS MADE PRIOR TO SUCH RELEASE AND THE INSURER IS NOT FOUND TO HAVE COMMITTED MISCONDUCT; THERE IS NO CONFLICT ON THIS POINT

In holding that Rosen had no right of action, the First District relied upon Fidelity and Casualty Company of New York v. Cope, 462 So. 2d 459 (Fla. 1985). In Cope, supra, this Court held that a third-party cause of action can exist only where there is an enforceable judgment against the insured party, because the third-party action is a derivative claim. "An essential ingredient to any cause of action is damages," Cope, supra, 462 So. 2d at 461. If the injured claimant has released the tortfeasor without previously obtaining an assignment of his rights against the insurer, there are obviously no damages. "[O]nce an injured party has released the tortfeasor from all liability, or has satisfied the underlying judgment, no such action may be maintained," Cope, supra, 462 So. 2d at 459. This rule applies to FIGA as well as to the insurance companies whose obligations it partially assumes pursuant to statute. FIGA pays only if its insured is "legally obligated to pay," since the existence of such obligation is a condition precedent to liability under virtually any insurance policy, e.g., Troso v. Florida Insurance Guaranty Assn., 538 So. 2d 103 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989); Peoples

v. Florida Insurance Guaranty Assn., 313 So. 2d 40 (Fla. 2d DCA 1975).

In Kelly v. Williams, 411 So. 2d 902 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982), cited with approval in Cope and relied upon in the First District's opinion, the defendant's liability insurer had agreed to pay the plaintiff its \$50,000 coverage. In return, the plaintiff covenanted to execute a satisfaction of judgment in favor of the defendant at the conclusion of the litigation, unless a bad-faith claim were commenced against the insurer. If such a claim were pursued, the satisfaction would be executed after its conclusion, regardless of outcome. In no event could the defendant be responsible beyond the \$50,000 already paid. The parties did not intend to wipe out an excess claim against the insurer, but "[u]nder the arrangement stipulated to by the parties in this case, the insured could not be exposed to an excess judgment under any circumstances. If one was obtained, the insured was entitled to a complete satisfaction of it, as soon as the judgment became final or enforceable," Kelly, supra, 411 So. 2d at 904. Thus, the insured party suffered no detriment, and the case against the insurer could not be maintained. *Kelly* is virtually identical to the case at bar.²

²One of the issues argued in the Duval County case was whether *Steil v. Florida Physicians Insurance Reciprocal*, 448 So. 2d 589 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984), could be applied. *Steil* may be read to allow a third-party claim despite a release, if an insurer has wrongfully abandoned its insured. However, the trial court specifically found no abandonment in this case, and the First District did not address that issue. Thus, for purposes of this Court's review, the finding of no misconduct or abandonment stands.

Rosen attempts to create inter-district conflict by distorting the holding of a 1986 Third District case, Florida Insurance Guaranty Assn. v. Giordano, 485 So. 2d 453 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986). In Giordano, there was an assignment from the insured to the claimant of all rights against the insurer, before any such claims were extinguished by the other terms of the settlement. The settlement specifically provided that no satisfaction would be given to the insured until the judgment was paid in full, Id., 485 So. 2d at 455. The Third District concluded that the claim could proceed, and that Cope was inapplicable because "the insured first assigned all of its rights against FIGA to the injured party. That alone takes this cause out of Cope's purview," Id., Second, the insured had actually suffered the detriment of recorded, at 457. unsatisfied judgments which would not be satisfied until the claimant received payment in full, unlike the "sham" judgment that Rosen took, Id. Third, "this is not a bad faith action against the insurer and there is no excess judgment involved here," It is this latter phrase that Rosen creatively interprets as a pronouncement that Id. *Cope* can never apply to a FIGA case, as FIGA is not liable for bad faith.

In the first place, the phrase is *dictum*. The result of the *Giordano* case is mandated by its facts: an assignment was taken before a release was executed, and there was a valid and enforceable judgment remaining against the insured. Had those two factors been missing as they are in the instant case, the *Giordano* court would

DITTMAR & HAUSER, P.A.

not have ruled as it did. Clearly, the case does not enunciate a rule that an action against the insurer survives the complete release of the insured simply because the action is denominated as a claim to enforce the policy rather than a "bad faith" case, or simply because FIGA is involved. Additionally, for the reasons explained above, Giordano is factually distinguishable from the instant case. There is no likelihood that, placing the two cases side by side, confusion will be created in Florida. Thus, there is no "direct and express" conflict. Indeed, if Rosen's view were accepted-that Cope applies to bad faith claims but not to claims seeking to enforce policy obligations-equity would be turned on its head. An insurer who commits bad faith could not be sued without an enforceable obligation against its insured, but one which behaves properly would be subjected to suit even though its insured has suffered no detriment and there is no instrument creating an obligation to indemnify the insured under the policy! If anything, the rule should more liberal toward plaintiffs claiming bad faith than for those who have no such basis for recovery.

Rosen cannot escape the bar erected by her agreement to release the insured through contending, as she failed to do below, that hers is in fact a direct claim rather than a third-party claim. In *Florida Physicians Insurance Reciprocal v. Avila*, 473 So. 2d 756 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985), the Fourth District held that even the insured party himself cannot force an insurer to pay where he has no legal liability. In *Avila*, a

physician sued his insurer after the insurer declined to offer as much as the plaintiff was demanding. The physician thereupon accepted a \$250,000 "loan" from his codefendant's carrier and fully settled the case. The "loan" was the liability that he sought to impose upon his insurer. However, the physician would have to repay this "loan" only upon the happening of two contingencies, one of which did not occur. Thus, he could never be required to repay the "loan." When this physician attempted to sue his insurer, the court pointed out that he had no legal liability, therefore no damages, and was barred from recovery under *Cope, supra*. And, of course, this argument was not made below and is not the basis of the First District's ruling.

Another argument now presented by Rosen was untimely raised in her reply brief below, and was not considered nor ruled upon by the First District-that section 631.193, Florida Statutes, somehow applies. The statute provides that the filing of a claim with the receiver of an insolvent insurer (which, pursuant to Chapter 631, part I, is the Florida Department of Insurance and *not* FIGA³) will release the insured from personal liability up to the amount of the original policy limits, but will not affect FIGA's liability. This statute is a part of the "Insurers Rehabilitation and Liquidation

³See, e.g., Kuvin, Klingensmith & Lewis, P.A. v. Florida Ins. Guaranty Assn., Inc., 371 So. 2d 214 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979) for authority that FIGA is not a governmental entity; see also Fla. Stat. sec. 631.141 (1997), specifying that the Department of Insurance must always be appointed as receiver of an insolvent insurance company.

Act" (Chapter 631, part I) rather than the "Florida Insurance Guaranty Association Act" (Chapter 631, Part II). Rosen incorrectly states (at pp. 4, 9 of "Petitioner's Jurisdictional Brief") that such a release is part of the FIGA statutes and is triggered by making a claim against FIGA; it is quite apparent from the statute (secs. 631.171 through 631.193) that the claims procedure referred to requires a claim against the Receivership estate. Claims covered by FIGA are governed by Part II of the chapter. A claimant may seek payment from the insured party and FIGA, in which case the insured would remain personally liable for any amounts not paid by FIGA, see Ramos v. Jackson, 510 So. 2d 1241 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987). Only if the claimant elects to seek any unpaid portion from the Receivership estate is there any release of the insured party from personal liability above FIGA's payment, and then only up to the amount of the original insurance policy, see Queen v. Clearwater Electric, 555 So. 2d 1262 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989).

FIGA never contended that its obligations were in any way affected by Rosen's election to file a Receivership claim. Nevertheless, Rosen now argues that because she had voluntarily filed a claim with the Receiver, her own written agreement to release FIGA's insured, given in settlement of the underlying litigation, for which she accepted valuable consideration, is a nullity. The argument makes no sense. Because FIGA's liability was wholly unaffected by the filing of a claim in the Receivership

estate, it remained obligated to defend and pay "covered claims" up to the amount required by the policy and the governing statutes. But that obligation, as so limited, depended upon its insured having a legal obligation to the claimant. After Rosen accepted \$39,000 in return for her unconditional agreement to release FIGA's insured, there no longer existed any legal obligation which could be enforced against the insured *or* against FIGA. Since FIGA did not and does not contend that a claimant who merely makes a claim against FIGA triggers section 631.193's release, there is no public policy problem requiring the attention of this Court, nor was this issue addressed below. Likewise, the question of whether the "declining balance" provisions of a malpractice policy should be enforced against the original limit or the new statutory limit after the carrier's insolvency, an obscure legal issue, was not addressed in the First District opinion, so it cannot be addressed herein.

CONCLUSION

Petitioner has failed to demonstrate an express and direct conflict which would create jurisdiction in this Court; this case was correctly decided in conformity with firmly established Florida law.